Case No. 68,279

(TFB 09B84C01)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

MICHAEL J. JAHN,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

DAVID G. McGUNEGLE Branch Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 605 East Robinson Street Suite 610 Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 425-5424

and

JAN K. WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 605 East Robinson Street Suite 610 Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 425-5424

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In May, 1984, respondent was charged in a two count Information in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court of Orange County, Florida, Case No. CR-84-2909, The Florida Bar Exhibit 6. Count One of the Information charged him with possession of cocaine, a controlled substance, in violation of Florida Statute 893.13-(1)(e), a third degree felony stemming from his February, 1984, injections of the drug on himself and a nineteen year old female who reported this to law enforcement authorities, R-63-90. In July, 1984, respondent was further charged in a three count Information in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court of Orange County, Florida, Case No. CR-84-3393. In Count One, respondent was charged with delivery of cocaine, a controlled substance, to a minor in violation of Florida Statute 893.13(1)(c)(1), a first degree felony, The Florida Bar Exhibit 57. The delivery of cocaine to a minor charge stems from respondent activities on June 21, 1984, in which respondent injected cocaine into a fifteen year old girl in a drugstore bathroom, R-6-25.

In May, 1985, Respondent was adjudicated guilty, upon pleas of nolo contendre, of delivery of cocaine to a minor, a first

degree felony, and possession of cocaine, a third degree felony, The Florida Bar Exhibit 4. On June 17, 1985, respondent was sentenced to the Florida Department of Corrections for a term of four and one half years in each case to run concurrently, The Florida Bar Exhibit 5. Respondent was suspended from The Florida Bar for three years effective June 12, 1985, pursuant to Article XI, Rule 11.07(2) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar by Order of this Court dated July 24, 1985 in Case No. 67,317.

On February 5, 1986, the Bar filed a Complaint alleging the above conduct against the respondent. On February 11, 1986, this Court appointed The Honorable William Norris as referee in this case. Pursuant to the referee's order in favor of respondent's Motion in Limine, the Bar filed an amended complaint. On March 6, 1986, Mr. John A. Weiss, counsel for respondent, filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint. Final hearing was held on April 24, 1986, in the chambers of the referee in Bartow, Florida, upon a waiver of venue from both parties. The Bar presented the testimony of Ms. Ms. Ms. And by deposition, Dr. Shashi B. Gore, M.D. The respondent presented the testimony of Dr. Doyle Preston Smith, M.D., Mr. John R. McCann, Ms. Julia A. Marshall, Mr. George D. Dugan, III., Ms. Valerie A. Jahn, Mr. Steven D. Milbrath, Mr. George N. Jahn, and the respondent. This

testimony was concluded on the evening of April 24, 1986. On April 28, 1986, the Bar filed a motion to allow rebuttal testimony. After several subsequent pleadings including a written proffer of rebuttal testimony, and respondent's response thereto, the referee declined to allow the Bar to present rebuttal testimony.

The referee then filed his report with this Court on July 28, 1986. The referee noted that while certain facts regarding the criminal charges were in dispute, the respondent did not deny his ultimate guilt, Ref- Section I, pg. 2. Regarding Case No. CR-84-3393 involving the minor, in which respondent pled guilty to delivery of cocaine to a minor, the referee rejected Ms. stestimony. The referee found, contrary to Ms. described statements, that the minor had been in original possession of the cocaine and that no force was used to inject cocaine into the girl. The referee noted that it should have been apparent to the respondent that was under the age of eighteen at the time of the incident, Ref- Section I, pg. 3; R-55. Regarding Case No. CR-84-2909, the referee also rejected the testimony of Ms. . who was nineteen years old at the time, regarding her alleged contact with respondent. Although Ms. testified that respondent had enticed her

into a motel room, injected her with cocaine, and continued to inject her with cocaine and blood throughout the night, R-76-78; the referee found that Ms. was a willing participant in the injection of cocaine and that no force was used, Ref- Section I, pg. 3-4.

The referee made a specific finding that the respondent had been addicted to cocaine at the time of these felonies and that he was now rehabilitated and remorseful. The referee specifically noted that respondent's acts underlying the criminal conduct for which he was convicted were caused by and directly attributable to his cocaine addiction, Ref- Section I, pq. 4. Based on this finding of facts, the referee recommended that respondent be found guilty of The Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a) for engaging in conduct contrary to honesty, justice and good morals, and 11.02(3)(b) for engaging in felonious criminal conduct, as well as Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(3) of the Code of Professional Responsibility of The Florida Bar for engaging in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude. referee recommended that respondent be found not quilty of violating Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) for engaging in conduct involving fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, or deceit, and Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) for other misconduct reflecting adversely on his fitness to practice law, Ref- Section IV, page 5. The referee then recommended that respondent be suspended for three years to run concurrently with his prior felony suspension, Ref- Section V, page 6. The referee specifically noted that respondent's cocaine addiction was responsible for his actions and that compassion and understanding (Ref- Section V, Pg. 6) were called for since in the referee's view this was offered by the Bar and this Court to attorneys recovering from alcoholism. The referee also noted respondent's rehabilitation, his remorse, and the fact that his felonies did not involve his clients or his law practice. The referee further noted there was ample evidence that respondent's felonious conduct reflected adversely on the public image of the Bar and that the subject had received extensive media attention, Ref- Section V, pg. 5-6.

At the Board of Governors' meeting which ended on September 19, 1986, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to petition for review in this case regarding the referee's findings of fact as to the circumstances of the felonies and recommendations of not guilty as to certain Disciplinary Rules of The Florida Bar's Code of Professional Responsibility as well as the recommended discipline.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves a disciplinary proceeding of a first degree felony involving the delivery of cocaine to a minor, a fifteen year old female, and a conviction of a third degree felony involving a separate instance of possession of cocaine.

The referee in this case recommended that the respondent be suspended from The Florida Bar for a period concurrent with his prior automatic felony suspension. In making this recommendation, the referee placed great weight on the testimony of a physician who testified to respondent's rehabilitation from his addiction to cocaine, which had occurred entirely subsequent to respondent's commission of the felonious acts, Ref-Section II, pg. 4. The referee also chose to find the testimony of two young females concerning the respondent's actions in committing the felonies to be without credibility and instead adopted respondent's version of the facts.

In doing so, however, the referee's findings were contrary to the facts of the felony convictions. In one case, the referee's findings that the minor female had been in possession of the cocaine rather than the respondent, (Ref-Section I, pg. 3), is actually so contrary to the facts of this felony that such facts could not have upheld this conviction. Further, the referee recommended that the respondent be found not guilty of Disciplinary Rules of the Code of Professional Responsibility of The Florida Bar, Rule 1-102(A)(4) for engaging in conduct involving fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, or deceit, and Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) for misconduct reflecting adversely on his fitness to practice law. The referee did find respondent in violation of other rules which were charged, Ref-Section II, pg. 5. It is the position of The Florida Bar that the above findings of facts and recommendations of not guilty as to certain Disciplinary Rules are contrary to the record and clearly erroneous.

It is further the position of The Florida Bar that the referee erred in placing great weight in the testimony concerning respondent's rehabilitation from the use of cocaine as a mitigating factor in recommending a suspension rather than disbarment. The fact that respondent was convicted of two separate felonies is in itself so serious that disbarment is called for. If use of an illegal drug to excess during the commission of crimes were allowed to mitigate such serious breaches of ethical conduct, the purposes of discipline of an attorney would be seriously neglected.

## ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

AN ATTORNEY SHOULD BE DISBARRED WHERE HE HAS BEEN CON-VICTED OF TWO FELONIES INVOLVING ILLEGAL DRUGS, ONE OF WHICH IS A FELONY OF THE FIRST DEGREE INVOLVING A MINOR.

It is well settled that the purposes of attorney discipline are protection of the public, administration of justice, and the protection of the legal profession through the discipline of members through the Bar. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983), this Court further addressed the goals of discipline, noting:

Discipline for unethical conduct by a member of The Florida Bar must serve three purposes: First, the judgment be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness and imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter other who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations, at 986.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 447 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1984), this Court noted another important purpose, that of protecting a

favorable image of the legal profession by imposing visible and effective discipline for serious violations, at 1341.

Felony convictions necessarily involve that close scrutiny be given to the goal of the protection of the public. This is particularly true in the case at hand where respondent admits that his impulses were made uncontrollable by reason of his cocaine addiction. Respondent's own witness testified that respondent's impulses can never be cured but only controlled, R-157. Thus, the public is threatened by respondent's addiction in and of itself, which calls for close scrutiny and particularly so where his status as a member of The Florida Bar is not severed by disbarment.

Since each discipline case involves a different fact pattern and circumstances, individual consideration is necessary to carry out the above purposes. It is apparent that felony violations are among the most serious violations of ethics which can be committed by an attorney. An attorney is expected to uphold the laws of the state and any breach thereof reflects poorly upon the reputation of the Bar.

This Court has not failed to note the seriousness of felony drug violations in the past regarding the goals of discipline. In <a href="https://doi.org/10.2012/nc.1985">The Florida Bar v. Hecker</a>, 475 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 1985), this Court noted that attempting to act as a drug procurer warranted disbarment:

The Bar also argues that the recommended suspension is inadequate given the gravity of respondent's misconduct. In the Bar's view respondent should be disbarred. agree. Respondent's conduct in attempting to act as a drug procurer is wholly inconsistent with his profesobligation as a member of the Bar. We appreciate that disbarment is the severest sanction available to us and should not be imposed where a less severe punishment would accomplish the desired purpose. The Florida 194 So.2d 264 (Fla. 1966). We appreciate Bar v. Moore, also that respondent has served his prison sentence, suffered other personal misfortunes, and appears to be genuinely remorseful. Nevertheless, respondent erately set out to engage in illegal drug activity for Illegal drug activities are a major pecuniary gain. blight on our society-nationally, statewide, and locally. Necessarily, members of the Bar are brought into contact with the illegal activity because of their professional obligations to offer legal assistance to clients accused of wrongdoing. Members of the Bar should be on notice that participation in such activities beyond professional obligations will be dealt with severely. The conduct of respondent warrants disbarment. The legal profession cannot tolerate such conduct., at 1243.

The above statements of the Court are directly on point in this case. In <u>Hecker</u>, the respondent's criminal conviction was lesser than respondent's in the present case, being only one second degree felony for criminal conspiracy to traffic in one thousand pounds of cannabis rather than the first degree felony

of delivery of cocaine to a minor as in this case. Certainly the legislature of the State of Florida adjudged delivery of cocaine to a minor to be more serious than criminal trafficking when it classified delivery to a minor as a first degree felony. The reasoning is clear. The threat to youngsters from adults that would lead them to participate in the use of illegal drugs is obvious. When those drugs are administered by adults in a dangerous manner such as injection, see Ref-Section I, pg. 3 and R-16-20, the offense becomes all the more reprehensible.

The fact that respondent's conviction involved not just one but two separate felony convictions involving two separate sets of circumstances further demonstrates the seriousness of this case. Respondent's second felony conviction in Case No. CR-84-2909 involved a third degree felony involving possession of cocaine under an entirely different set of circumstances and at a different time than the delivery of cocaine to a minor. This case also involved a young female. In <a href="The Florida Bar v. Wilson">The Florida Bar v. Wilson</a>, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983), this Court did not hesitate to disbar a respondent convicted of two felonies involving illicit drugs. Although <a href="Wilson">Wilson</a> involved an attorney-client relationship where an attempt was made to traffic in cocaine, neither of the convictions involved a first degree felony as in this case. Although

the referee recommended suspension, the Court noted that a three year suspension would not meet that criteria required of attorney discipline. This Court noted in <u>Wilson</u> that disbarment after a conviction of two felonies is certainly not unfair to an attorney and that mere suspension would not be just to the public where the attorney involved in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude had violated his oath and flagrantly breached the confidence reposed in him as an officer of the court.

A suspension, with continued membership in the bar, albeit without the privilege of practicing, is susceptible of being viewed by the public as a slap on the wrist when the gravity of the offense calls out for a more severe discipline., Wilson at pg. 3.

The Court further noted that disbarment would insure that respondent could only be admitted again upon full compliance with the rules of the Bar and that disbarment was called for.

Finally, if the discipline does not measure up to the gravity of the offense, the whole discipline process becomes a sham to the attorneys regulated by it. Disbarment as a result of the conviction of felonies is a message loud and clear to the members of The Florida Bar that this Court will not countenance or permit the conduct for which respondent was convicted. In our view, a suspension does not have the deterrent affect of disbarment., <u>Wilson</u> at pg. 4.

Further, this case involves a high degree of awareness by the public, relevant to the fourth factor to be considered in attorney discipline. The referee noted that this case generated a large amount of publicity and that there was ample evidence that respondent's conduct reflected adversely on the public image of the Bar, Ref- Section V, pg. 6.

Certainly, the public does not trust an attorney who has been convicted of widely publicized felonies. The fact of this public awareness coupled with the seriousness of respondent's misconduct and the fact that he would be treated more kindly by the Bar because he used illegal drugs while committing the crimes would undeniably erode the public confidence in the Bar's efforts to maintain integrity.

Prior case law supports disbarment as the appropriate discipline in this case. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Beasley</u>, 351 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1977) this Court held that respondent must be disbarred after being convicted of delivery of marijuana to a client. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Linn</u>, 461 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1984) an attorney was disbarred for soliciting to traffic in cocaine and neglect of a real estate matter. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Ludwig</u>, 465 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1985) this Court disbarred the respondent for conviction of one count of grand theft and five counts of delivery of a controlled substance. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Wentworth</u>, 469 So.2d 127

(Fla. 1985) this Court held that the respondent should be disbarred where he was convicted of federal marijuana smuggling and had prior felony suspensions. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kline</u>, 475 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1985), this Court disbarred the respondent for possession of cannabis in the second degree.

Anything less than disbarment in the present case would be inconsistent with the principles and the goals of The Florida Bar and be viewed with disdain by a public which refuses to tolerate both illegal drug conduct and attorneys who refuse to abide by the ethical standards required of them.

## **ARGUMENT**

### POINT II

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT'S ADDICTION TO CO-CAINE IS MITIGATION OF HIS FELONIOUS CONDUCT IS ERRONEOUS AND UNJUSTIFIED.

In his report, the referee states at several points that respondent's addiction to cocaine should be considered as a mitigating factor to his conduct. In Section Two, number (2), at pg. four of his report, the referee states: "That respondent's acts underlying the criminal conduct for which he was convicted were caused by and directly attributable to his cocaine addiction." Although the referee states in Section III, pg. 5 "The findings of fact involving and and concerning respondent's addiction to cocaine are not defenses to respondent's criminal conduct." The referee later states that he takes the addiction to cocaine into consideration as a mitigating factor:

The Bar, as sanctioned by the Supreme Court, has addressed the alcohol-impaired professional but what of the cocaine-impaired professional? Is there a rational distinction between alcohol addiction and cocaine addiction other than the obvious one that the use and possession of one drug is legal and the other illegal? I think not!

Can we in today's enlightened times recognize the recovering alcoholic and, after treatment and rehabilitation, permit him to remain in, or return to, the Bar, and not offer the same compassionate understanding to those of our brothers and sisters who suffer from, and recovering from, cocaine addiction? I think not!

Where cocaine was once thought to be a "safe" drug of choice, today the media is replete with stories with detailing the emerging horrors of cocaine addiction. Are those of our profession (such as the respondent) who has succumbed to the lure and temptation of so-called "safe" recreational drug, so unworthy of compassion and understanding, is their addiction so reprehensible, that our profession is justified in casting them from our midst with the stigma of the ultimate penalty-- disbarment? I think not!, Ref- Section V, pg. 6.

The referee makes several assumptions here which are simply not supported by either case law or the facts.

First of all, the referee assumes that even alcoholism would be considered a mitigating factor to such serious criminal convictions as a first degree felony and a third degree felony as in this case. The seriousness of respondent's misconduct must be examined before any plea for mitigation can be considered, much less applied. Respondent admits that his guilt is uncontested in convictions involving entirely his felony two circumstances, Ref- Section II, pg. 2. A review of the record clearly shows that respondent's conduct falls far professional standards expected of a practicing attorney and warrants the strongest sanction available, disbarment. There can

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