THE FLORIDA BAR,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts the Bar's statement of the case with the following modifications.

This is a case of original jurisdiction before this court pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of The Florida Constitution.

On page two of the Bar's brief it is mistakenly stated that subsequent to the Referee's order in favor of Respondent's Motion in Limine, the Bar filed an amended complaint. In fact, the Bar filed an amended complaint after the Referee granted Respondent's Motion to Strike the original complaint.

The grounds for Respondent's motion to strike were that the Bar's complaint contained such inflammatory and immaterial allegations that the only alternative available to the Referee was striking the complaint in its entirety.

Subsequent to the Bar's filing its amended complaint, Respondent filed a Motion in Limine which was denied by the Referee.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

While Respondent has no quarrel with the accuracy of the Bar's statement of facts, he feels that the facts involved in this case need to be more thoroughly addressed.

A. Respondent's Criminal Convictions.

On May 24, 1984, Respondent was charged in a two count information with possession of cocaine and possession of paraphernalia for events that happened on the night of February 3, 1984. On July 20, 1984, a second information was filed charging Respondent with three counts of criminal conduct including delivery of cocaine to a minor, possession of cocaine and child abuse for conduct that took place on June 21, 1984.

No other criminal charges have ever been filed against Respondent.

Respondent ultimately pleaded no contest to possession of cocaine on the first information filed and delivery of cocaine to a minor on the second. He was adjudicated guilty in May, 1985 and on June 12, 1985 he was automatically suspended from the practice of law pursuant to Rule 11.07 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. On June 17, 1985, he was sentenced to four and one-half years concurrent sentences on each count, the maximum sentence available to the judge under the guidelines.

B. The Referee's Report.

After observing that the case at bar "is a difficult, troublesome case involving a drug-impaired professional" (RR 1)

the Honorable William A. Norris, Jr. made extensive findings of fact in a seven page report. Judge Norris, who is eminently familiar with disciplinary proceedings, recommended three years suspension as the appropriate discipline. In so doing, he rejected the testimony of the Bar's only two witness as being unworthy of belief.

In The **Case involving** incident, (the case involving the delivery of cocaine to a minor), the Referee made the following finding:

I find that to the extent **Constant** is testimony conflicts with Respondent's testimony and the testimony of Julia Harden Mitchell (TR 63-130) whose testimony I find to be especially believable, **Constant** is version of the incident is highly unreliable and worthy of little weight. Thus, I find, based on my personal observations of the appearance and demeanor of the witnesses, that:

(1) The cocaine was in the original possession of **the set of** not the Respondent; and

(2) **(2)** was a willing participant in the injection of cocaine into her body; and

(3) No force was used (RR 3).

The Referee found that **Control**'s testimony regarding the events that occurred on the night of February 3, 1984, (the possession conviction) and the two weeks prior to that date, could be characterized as "extremely difficult to believe" (RR 3). He further found that:

To the extent that her testimony conflicts

with Respondent's testimony and the testimony of the other witnesses I elect to rely on and other witnesses. the l's believe testimony does not have "the ring of truth." simply does not smell right. Thus, I It find, based on my personal observations of the appearance and demeanor of the witnesses that: (1)was а participant the willing in into her injection of cocaine body; and

(2) No force was used (RR 3).

Judge Norris then considered Respondent's background, his dependency on cocaine, the consequences of his dependency, his rehabilitation and his remorse for his acts. After consideration of all the witnesses' testimony, Judge Norris made the following findings of fact:

> With regard to Respondent's testimony, I find him to be extremely candid and forthcoming in discussing his addiction and in accepting ultimate responsibility for his conduct. He indeed remorseful. is This candor is, for to the example, a refreshing contrast attitude exhibited by a Respondent in a recent case also heard by the undersigned. See The Florida Bar v. Price, 478 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1985).

> Based on the testimony of the above witnesses, I make the following findings:

(1) At all times material to The Bar's complaint, Respondent was addicted to cocaine;

(2)Respondent's acts That underlying the criminal conduct for which he was convicted were caused by and directly attributable to his cocaine addiction;

(3) That from August 1984 through

the date of the hearing Respondent has lived a drug and alcohol free life;

(4) That Respondent is medically classified as a recovering addict;

(5) That the treatment plan and recovery prognosis for individuals addicted to alcohol and individuals addicted to cocaine is identical;

(6) That Respondent's addiction involved neither the practice of law nor his clients. (RR 5)

In Section V of his report, the able and experienced Referee extensively discussed his reasons for the discipline that he recommended in this case. After observing that there was no "rational distinction between alcohol addiction and cocaine addiction" (RR 6) and that members of The Bar who are recovering alcoholics should be treated in the same manner as those recovering from cocaine addiction, the Referee made the following statements:

> Are those of our profession (such as the Respondent) who have succumbed to the lure temptation of "safe" and а so-called recreational drug, so unworthy of compassion and understanding, is their addiction so reprehensible, that our profession is justified in casting them from our midst with stigma of the ultimate penalty-the disbarment? I think not!

> respect to this case, is no With there competent evidence before me that Respondent's cocaine addiction adversely impacted any of his clients or that his drug involvement was for pecuniary gain. There course, ample evidence that his is, of

cocaine - induced conduct reflected adversely on the public image of The Bar and on the For his drug-Respondent individually. induced conduct he has paid a very high He and his family have been the price. subject of extensive media attention. He is convicted felon, he has been twice а incarcerated in the state prison system, and he has been suspended from the practice of his profession. I believe that he has been punished enough. (RR 6)

C. The main finant Incident.

Respondent pleaded no contest to the charge of delivery of cocaine to a minor. The gravamen for the charge was Respondent's injection of **Control** with cocaine – an act Respondent admitted doing (TR 292). The injection took place in the employees bathroom in an Eckerds Drug Store.

At the time of the incident described above, was was 15. The Referee found that Respondent should have known that she was under the age of 18. He did have doubt, however, whether it was apparent that she was merely 15 years old (RR 3).

Despite her minority, Ms. **Constitution** had already started drinking alcoholic beverages to the point of intoxication and illness (TR 30), she smoked marijuana (TR 33) and she had seen other people do cocaine (TR 14). Her boyfriend in June 1984, at some point subsequent to the incident involving Respondent, checked himself into a drug rehabilitation center (TR 28). In June 1984, having completed the eighth grade, **Constitute** had already been suspended from middle school for smoking cigarettes

(TR 26) and had made virtually all D's the school year prior to that summer. The subsequent school year she dropped out of school.

Mrs. Julia Harden Marshall (Respondent's girlfriend in 1984 and now married and residing in Wyoming) testified that she and Respondent were driving together when they met Ms. June 21, 1984. Mrs. Marshall and Respondent both testified that Ms. Was hitchhiking along a highway on an afternoon when it was about to rain (TR 184, 285). Ms. Ms. Ms. Marshall and was wearing short shorts, a half-shirt and no bra. She denied hitchhiking.

After Ms. Got into the car, Respondent asked her if she would like to stop at T.G.I.Friday's, the restaurant and bar to which Respondent and Mrs. Marshall were going. Ms. Marshall willingly and enthusiastically ("I wanted a drink") went into Friday's with the couple (TR 30).

Ms. Mean testified before the Referee that Respondent and his girlfriend knew her age prior to entering Friday's. However, during cross-examination, she acknowledged that during deposition on August 24, 1984 she testified that she could not remember whether she had told Respondent her age (TR 29, 30). Respondent and Mrs. Marshall were consistent in their testimony that Respondent asked Ms. Marshall were consistent in their testimony that Respondent asked Ms. Marshall sage and she acknowledged that she was 19 years old (TR 186, 286). All the parties agreed, however, that when the bartender asked Ms. Stepp for identification proving her age, that she did not tell him that

she was not old enough to be served alcohol.

Respondent testified that shortly after their drinks were served, he learned that Ms. possessed some cocaine (TR 287). He immediately suggested that the three of them leave the bar. Although Ms. Intimated to the referee that she reluctantly left with Respondent and his girlfriend, she never refused to leave with them. Nor did she make any attempt to continue to her boyfriend's house, which was only a five minute walk away (TR 31-33).

The three of them drove to an Eckerd's drugstore and Respondent and Ms. **Control** went inside to buy syringes. Once inside the store, all parties agree that Ms. **Control** was asked by Respondent to go back outside to the car to get his wallet. After searching the car, Ms. **Control** returned inside the store and told Respondent that she could not find it. He then went outside, leaving her alone in the store for approximately ten minutes (TR 39). Although there were employees and customers in the store, and although Ms. **Control** was unattended, at no point did she ask any individual for assistance or in any way indicate that she was in any distress (TR 39).

Upon returning to the store, Respondent bought the syringes and he and Ms. Went into the employees' bathroom in the back of the store (TR 40). While in the bathroom, Respondent injected himself and **Computings** with cocaine (TR 291, 292).

While Respondent and Ms. Warning were in the bathroom, an

individual (whom they later learned was a policeman) knocked on the door and asked if everything was alright. Respondent advised the individual knocking that he was feeling ill. Ms. dia not indicate her presence in the bathroom (TR 43). She also acknowledged that she could have yelled while in the bathroom, that Respondent never physically or verbally threatened her, and yet she did not call for help (TR 43, 44).

Ms. Make testified that she did not know the source of the cocaine, that Respondent injected her against her will and that at some point in time Respondent rubbed her body with cocaine (TR 17-19). Respondent denied all three statements and particularly denied rubbing cocaine on Ms. The statement shody with the statement that at that point in time he was more interested "in putting cocaine in my arm than rubbing it on people's bodies" (TR 292).

Ms. Ms. Main also testified that while she was in the bathroom, and while Respondent was filling syringes prior to giving the injections, the door to the bathroom "was unattended" (TR 41).

Some time after the individual knocked on the door, Ms. There left the bathroom and immediately saw a policeman. When he asked her if there were any drugs in the bathroom, she said no (TR 45). It was not until she was told that she was going to Juvenile Court and was read her Miranda rights that she admitted that there were drugs in the bathroom (TR 45).

Ms. Method to the Referee that later on that

night she gave a taped statement to police officers. She acknowledged to the Referee that she did not make any mention about being rubbed with cocaine during the taped statement (TR 46). She also told the Referee that she did mention during the taped statement that she had had a drink in Friday's earlier that day. However, on cross-examination, she acknowledged that during deposition she had answered under oath that she had not told the police about either the cocaine rubbing or the drink at Friday's (TR 46).

Ms. Ms. acknowledged to the Referee that she did not see fit to tell her entire story until after the Assistant State Attorney prosecuting the case told her about Respondent's being in trouble with "some girl in a hotel" (TR 48).

When asked why she lied to the police officers, Ms. testified that she was "scared I was going to get in trouble" and "I thought that my mom was going to beat me when I got home" (TR 20). She acknowledged that when her parents arrived at Eckerds, her "stepfather got mad, and my mom was standing there looking like she was freaking out" (TR 21).

D. The **Contract Incident**.

Although the events of the night of February 3, 1984 only resulted in a conviction of possession of cocaine (in the second count of that information he was charged with possession of paraphernalia), The Florida Bar presented testimony from Respondent's date on that night, **Constitution**, under the guise of background information relating to the charge. Ms.

1Ø

although no such charges were ever brought, alleged that Respondent injected her with cocaine against her will. The Referee rejected Ms. **Comparison** testimony after finding it "extremely difficult to believe" and observing that **Comparison**'s testimony does not have `the ring of truth'" (RR 3). The Referee further observed that:

> To the extent that her testimony conflicts with Respondent's testimony and the testimony of the other witnesses, I elect to rely on and believe the other witnesses (RR 3).

The Referee then specifically found, based on his "personal observations of the appearance and demeanor of the witnesses" that Ms. **Constitute** was a willing participant in the injection of cocaine into her body and that no force was used on her (RR 3).

At the time that Respondent met Ms. At the time that Respondent met Ms. At the time that Respondent met Ms. At the time that a pool shark who spent virtually every free night frequenting bars and pool halls (TR 91). Ms. At the had a pool-related nickname, "Florida Slim", and in 1983 won \$1,500.00 playing pool. She even owned a \$500.00 cue (TR 91).

Ms. **Constraint** according to her own testimony, had at least "tried" marijuana prior to meeting Michael Jahn, had experimented with other drugs, and had admittedly at least come close to trying cocaine on a prior occasion (TR 92-94).

On February 3, 1984, Ms. was on her third date

with Respondent. They had met in Daytona two weeks previously and, according to Respondent, had purchased cocaine and used it on the night they met. While Ms. Acknowledges a suspicious transaction with a known cocaine dealer on their first date (TR 106-109), she denies that she used cocaine that or any other night.

One week later, Ms. drove to Orlando and met Respondent at a Holiday Inn near his home. She testified that she spent the night in the hotel but denied spending the night with Respondent (TR 115). She did, however, acknowledge that she called her parents while at the hotel and falsely told them that she was spending the night with Respondent's parents in Winter Park (TR 115). Prior to calling her parents, Ms. diama Respondent had spent the evening in Orlando wining and dining, an evening which included an expensive meal and a ride in a horsedrawn carriage.

Respondent and Ms. **Main and Ms. The same Holiday Inn the following weekend.**

The Saturday of the next weekend, February 3, 1984, Ms. met Respondent in the parking lot of the same Holiday Inn at which she had stayed the previous weekend. She left her bags in her car (TR 278) and went with Respondent in his car to a family reunion in Kissimmee. On the way to the reunion, Respondent bought her a new pair of cowboy boots (TR 118) and later in the day Respondent and Ms.

Ms. testified that after leaving the reunion in Kissimmee, she had been told by Michael that they were to spend the night at Disney World. This was supposedly true despite the fact that she had left her car and luggage at the Holiday Inn in Orlando. Respondent asserts that it was their plan all along to return to that same Holiday Inn.

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